# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-29-2016

## Gallagher v. Best Western Cottontree Inn Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43695

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a personal injury case. The defendant slipped and fell at a hotel in Idaho Falls; there was no warning sign indicating the hotel floor had just been washed and was wet at the time Gallagher stepped on it and fell.

The Plaintiff sued the party named as owning the property at which the Plaintiff fell, as that information appeared on the Idaho Secretary of State's website for assumed names, within the statute of limitations. Service upon the owner of the property, as that owner was listed with the Secretary of State, was also timely accomplished. When serving the listed owner, Plaintiff-Appellant Gallagher was informed the property had changed hands. Gallagher thereafter moved to amend the complaint to reflect the new owner, was granted permission and served the new owner. Defendant-Respondent Snake River Petersen Properties, LLC, alleges the amendment should not relate back to the original filing date, and the limitation period of six months should not be tolled, despite Gallagher's reliance upon the official record on file with the Idaho Secretary of State's office for assumed business names.

#### B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

The Plaintiff-Appellant Geralyn Gallagher filed a Verified Complaint for Damages and Demand for Jury Trial on July 9, 2014. During the six month period for serving the Defendants, while attempting to serve the Defendant Best Western Cottontree Inn and L & L Legacy Limited Partnership upon Scott Eskelson, the Plaintiff-Appellant was informed that the business had been sold. Plaintiff-Appellant filed a Motion to Extend Time for Service of Plaintiff's Complaint and

Summons and Affidavit of Allen H. Browning on January 8, 2015. The Court entered an Order to Extend Time for Service for ninety days on January 14, 2015. An Amended Complaint and Summons was filed by Plaintiff-Appellant on April 9, 2015 and was served upon the Defendants-Respondents Best Western Cottontree Inn and Snake River Petersen Properties, LLC, a Wyoming Close Limited Liability on April 13, 2015. Defendants-Respondents filed a Notice of Appearance on April 27, 2015. The parties filed a Stipulation for Dismissal of L & L Legacy Limited Partnership, LLC with Prejudice on May 19, 2015. On May 21, 2015 the Defendants-Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss, Memorandum in Support of the Motion to Dismiss in which they argued that the case should be dismissed as based on untimely service and that Plaintiff-Appellant's Amended Complaint should date back to the original filing on July 9, 2014 when filed under I.R.C.P. 15(c). The Court entered an Order for Dismissal of L & L Legacy Limited Partnership, LLC with Prejudice on June 4, 2015. Plaintiff-Appellant filed an Objection to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss on June 5, 2015, in which Defendant-Respondent filed a Reply Brief in Support of Defendant's Motion to Dismiss on June 19, 2015. A hearing on Defendant-Appellant's Motion to Dismiss was held on June 23, 2015 in which the Court took the matter under advisement. Following that hearing the Court entered its Decision and Order re: Motion to Dismiss and Judgment on June 30, 2015 in which it dismissed Defendant-Respondent with prejudice. A Motion to reconsider was filed by the Plaintiff-Appellant on July 10, 2015 and Defendant-Respondent filed is Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration on August 31, 2015. The Hearing on Plaintiff-Appellant's Motion to Reconsider was held on September 8, 2015 in which the Court asked both the parties for additional brief before issuing a ruling. The Defendant's Supplemental Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration was filed September 15, 2015, Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Supplemental Brief was filed

September 21, 2015 and the Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant's Supplemental Brief was filed on September 24, 2015. The Court entered its Decision and Order re: Motion to Reconsider on September 28, 2015 in which it denied the Plaintiff-Appellant's Motion to Reconsider. A Notice of Appeal was filed with the Court by the Plaintiff-Appellant on October 21, 2015.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 10, 2012, Plaintiff-Appellant Geralyn Gallagher was severely injured at a hotel in Idaho Falls, Idaho, located at 900 Lindsay Boulevard, named the Best Western Plus Driftwood Inn, aka the Best Western Cottontree Inn. The floor had been washed and was still wet, with no signs warning of a hazard (R., Vol. I, p. 7, L. 6-10).

She hired Allen Browning to pursue her injury claim.

A search was done with the Idaho Secretary of State to determine the legal owner of the Best Western Plus Driftwood Inn, the correct business name for the purposes of filing a lawsuit, and the registered agent for service of process (R., Vol. I, p. 13-18). The name of the business as registered with the Idaho Secretary of State was the Best Western Cottontree Inn; the owner was listed as L&L Legacy Limited Partnership.

At the time of the accident, and unknown to the Plaintiff–Appellant Gallagher or her attorney, Best Western Cottontree Inn had been purchased by Snake River Petersen Properties, LLC, a Wyoming Close Limited Liability (hereinafter "Snake River") (R., Vol. I, p. 50 L. 13-23 and p. 51, L 1-8). The hotel was owned and operated by Snake River at the time of the accident (R., Vol. I, p. 23-32), but there was no filing of this information with the Idaho Secretary of State.

The Best Western Cottontree Inn was required under I.C. § 53-504 to file a certificate of

assumed business name. There was on file with the Secretary of State's office a certificate of assumed business name for that name at that address and for that business, and that filing was listed as "current" when Plaintiff-Appellant filed its complaint against Best Western Cottontree Inn and L&L Legacy Limited Partnership on July 9, 2014 (R., Vol. I, p. 15-18). Plaintiff-Appellant had checked those records listed as "current" at the time of filing, and "L&L Legacy Limited Partnership" was listed as the only entity owning and operating this business at the time of the accident and subsequent thereto (R., Vol I., p 15-18).

Because Plaintiff-Appellant's investigation revealed that the Best Western Cottontree Inn was owned and operated by L & L Legacy Limited Partnership at the time Mrs. Gallagher was injured, Plaintiff-Appellant filed her lawsuit against Best Western Cottontree Inn and L & L Legacy Limited Partnership on July 9, 2014, prior to the running of the statute of limitations. (R., Vol I., p. 6-10).

A timely summons was issued for Best Western Cottontree Inn and L & L Legacy Limited Partnership, this is undisputed. During the six month period for serving the Defendants-Respondents, a process server attempted to serve the Summons and Complaint upon Scott Eskelson, the registered agent for L & L Legacy Limited. Eskelson informed the process server the business had been sold, L&L Legacy was not the owner, and James Spatig was the current registered agent (R., Vol I., p 13-18 and p. 50, L. 13-23, p. 51, L. 1-8).

On January 8, 2015, the Plaintiff-Appellant asked the court for additional time to determine who the new owner was, and his registered agent (R., Vol I., p. 11-18).

The Plaintiff-Appellant was granted a 90 day extension of time to find and serve the new owner (R., Vol. I., p. 19-20). During that time, Plaintiff-Appellant amended the complaint to include Snake River and served a copy of the Complaint upon Snake River (R., Vol. I., p 21-35).

When, for the first time, it was demonstrated that Snake River had purchased the hotel from L&L Legacy prior to the accident, the Plaintiff-Appellant stipulated to allow L&L removed from the suit. (R., Vol. I., p. 38-39).

II.

#### **ISSUES**

- 1. Does the Plaintiff-Appellant Gallagher's amendment of her complaint relate back to the time of filing the original complaint?
- 2. Did Defendant-Respondent Snake River's failure to file with the Idaho Secretary of State's Office prejudice Gallagher and therefore allow this complaint to relate back to the date of Filing under *Winn v. Campbell*, and toll the limitations period for serving the proper defendant?
- 3. Because Plaintiff Gallagher actually found the name and address of the business which owned and operated the hotel at which Gallagher was injured, is this circumstance distinguishable from *Ketterling v. Burger King?*

#### III.

#### STANDARD AND SCOPE OF REVIEW

In this case, the District Court granted summary judgment in favor Defendant-Respondent Snake River, finding that under *Ketterling v. Burger King Corp.*, 152 Idaho 555, 272 P.3d 527 (2012), the service of the amended complaint naming a different plaintiff did not relate back to the original filing date and the time for serving the Defendant-Respondent was not tolled.

When reviewing an order for summary judgment, the standard of review for an appellate court is the same standard used by the district court in ruling on the motion. Summary judgment is proper when the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(c). If there is no genuine issue of material fact, only a question of law remains, over which an appellate court exercises free review.

Winn v. Campbell, 145 Idaho 727, 728, 184 P.3d 852, 853, (Idaho 2008). IV.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# A. <u>PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S AMENDMENT OF COMPLAINT RELATES BACK</u> <u>TO THE TIME OF FILING THE ORIGINAL COMPLAINT</u>

Plaintiff-Appellant originally sued the Best Western Cottontree Inn as well as its former owner, L & L Legacy Limited Partnership. The Complaint was amended to keep the name of the business (which has not changed), and to name the current owner, Snake River Petersen Properties, LLC, because Defendant-Respondent Snake River hid its ownership from the world by failing to file a certificate of assumed name, as required by I.C. Sections 53-504 and 53-509. The Rule of Civil Procedure concerning amendments to complaints is I.R.C.P. 15, which states:

- (a) Amended and Supplemental Pleadings--Amendments. A party may amend the party's pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is permitted and the action has not been placed upon the trial calendar, the party may so amend it at any time within twenty (20) days after it is served. Otherwise a party may amend a pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires, and the court may make such order for the payment of costs as it deems proper. A party shall plead in response to an amended pleading within the time remaining for response to the original pleading or within ten (10) days after service of the amended pleading, whichever period may be the longer, unless the court otherwise orders.
- (b) Amendments to Conform to the Evidence. When issues not raised by the pleading are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendment of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time, even after judgment; but failure so to amend does not affect the result of the trial of these

issues. If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended and shall do so freely when the presentation of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such evidence would prejudice the party in maintaining the party's action or defense upon the merits. The court may grant a continuance to enable the objecting party to meet such evidence.

- (c) Relation Back of Amendments. Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading. An amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted relates back if the foregoing provision is satisfied and, within the period provided by law for commencing the action against the party, the party to be brought in by amendment (1) has received such notice of the institution of the action that the party will not be prejudiced in maintaining a defense on the merits, and (2) knew or should have known that, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, the action would have been brought against the party. The relation back of an amendment joining or substituting a real party in interest shall be as provided in Rule 17(a). The delivery or mailing of process to the Idaho attorney general or designee of the attorney general, or an agency or officer who would have been a proper defendant if named, satisfies the requirement of clauses (1) and (2) hereof with respect to the state of Idaho or any agency or officer thereof to be brought into the action as a defendant.
- (d) Supplemental Pleadings. Upon motion of a party the court may, upon reasonable notice and upon such terms as are just, permit him to serve a supplemental pleading setting forth transactions or occurrences or events which have happened since the date of the pleading sought to be supplemented, whether or not the original pleading is defective in its statement of a claim for relief. If the court deems it advisable that the adverse party plead thereto, it shall so order, specifying the time therefor.

It is clear the complaint may be amended at any time, and motions to amend are to be freely granted when doing so is in the interests of justice.

The original complaint was filed within the statute of limitations, was served within the 6 month period for service. Therefore, under Rule 15(c), the amended complaint relates back to the date of service of the original complaint.

The controversy in this case concerns the effect of the Defendant-Respondent Best Western Cottontree Inn having an official state filing with the prior owner and showing that listing as "current" as of the dates of filing and serving the complaint. Further, Gallagher's attorney investigated and found the proper business name and address as reflected in the Secretary of State's official listing of assumed names and relied upon the accuracy of those records when filing and serving its complaint.

B. <u>DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT SNAKE RIVER'S FAILURE TO FILE WITH THE IDAHO SECRETARY OF STATE'S OFFICE ACTUALLY PREJUDICED GALLAGHER AND THEREFORE THIS COMPLAINT SHOULD RELATE BACK TO THE DATE OF FILING AND THE REQUIREMENT OF SERVICE WITHIN SIX MONTHS SHOULD BE TOLLED UNDER WINN V. CAMPBELL.</u>

Defendant Snake River failed to file a certificate of assumed name with the Secretary of State's office when it began operating the Best Western Cottontree Inn. This violated I.C. Section 53-504, which requires this be done:

53-504. Filing of certificate required. (1) Any person who proposes to or intends to transact business in Idaho under an assumed business name shall, before beginning to transact business, file with the secretary of state a certificate of assumed business name in a form prescribed by the secretary of state. The form may be in any medium permitted by the secretary of state. The certificate shall be executed for the person by an individual who has actual authority to bind the person to legal obligations.

Under *Wait v. Leavell Cattle*, the Court stated the purpose of that statute was to "[p]rotect the public against fraud and to give public information to persons who deal with those who conduct business under a fictitious name." 136 Idaho at 797, 41 P.3d at 225; Winn v. Campbell, 145 Idaho 727, 731, 184 P.3d 852, 856 (Idaho 2008).

Winn v. Campbell, supra, involved a person who had been injured in a hotel. The Plaintiff sued the wrong party and listed a defendant which did business at a different address

than that at which the plaintiff had been injured. Plaintiff's counsel had been mistaken concerning the physical location where the Plaintiff was injured, and named the wrong hotel in which the Plaintiff was injured. Under those facts, the court dismissed the amended claim as not relating back and not tolling the limitations period for serving the correct defendant, finding the Plaintiff should have made a more reasonable search to determine the place of injury and the owner of the hotel. *Winn v. Campbell*, 145 Idaho 727, 184 P.3d 852 (2008).

In *Winn*, the Idaho Supreme Court found the statute of limitations was not tolled because Plaintiff in that case did not conduct a proper inquiry as to the owner of the business, and that the failure to file with the Secretary of State's office did not mislead the Plaintiff. However, it further stated that the tolling of the statute of limitations could have been possible, had Plaintiff sued the hotel in which she actually had fallen:

This Court, however, has given some indication that tolling of the statute is possible. In Wait v. Leavell Cattle, the Court discussed Idaho's former assumed name statute and concluded that its purpose was to "[p]rotect the public against fraud and to give public information to persons who deal with those who conduct business under a fictitious name." 136 Idaho at 797, 41 P.3d at 225. It concluded that the defendant's conduct in that case did not mislead the plaintiff in any way. Id. Therefore, the Court stated that the case did not provide a basis for holding that the statute of limitations should be tolled. This language, however, indicates that this Court may someday find a situation where tolling would be appropriate.

Today, however, is not that day. This case, like *Wait*, does not provide a situation that might support a tolling of the statute of limitations. Winn failed to find out where her fall took place, and she sued the wrong hotel entirely. The purpose of the Assumed Business Names Act is to ensure disclosure of the true names of persons who transact business in Idaho. I.C. § 53–502. The consequences for noncompliance are found in I.C. § 53–509(1), which prohibits noncompliant parties from maintaining any legal action until they comply with the statute. I.C. § 53–509(2) allows any person who suffers a loss because of another's noncompliance to recover damages and attorney fees. If Winn had filed her suit against Tumbling Waters Motel, where she actually fell, her argument may have had merit because it appears as though Campbell, Inc., has yet to comply with the filing requirement for that hotel. Thus, had Winn attempted to sue the Tumbling Waters Motel, she may not have been able to find the correct party to serve. However, that is not the situation at hand. To toll the statute of limitations in this case would reward Winn for failing to take the simple step of finding out where she fell so that she could attempt to sue the correct party.

Winn v. Campbell, 145 Idaho 727, 731, 184 P.3d 852, 856 (2008).

In the instant case, Plaintiff-Appellant Gallagher did identify the precise location at which she was injured, and she named the hotel listed with the Idaho Secretary of State. Plaintiff-Appellant Gallagher was actively misled by Snake River's failure to file its certificate of assumed name with the Idaho Secretary of State. Therefore, under the express reasoning of Winn and consistent with Wait v. Leavell Cattle, Gallagher's complaint should be allowed to relate back to the date of filing and the time for serving Snake River should have been tolled. This is the case anticipated by Winn, when it stated "this Court may someday find a situation where tolling would be appropriate." Winn v. Campbell, 145 Idaho 727, 731, 184 P.3d 852, 856 (Idaho 2008).

# C. BECAUSE PLAINTIFF GALLAGHER ACTUALLY FOUND THE NAME AND ADDRESS OF THE BUSINESS WHICH OWNED AND OPERATED THE HOTEL AT WHICH GALLAGHER WAS INJURED, THIS CIRCUMSTANCE DISTINGUISHES THIS CASE FROM KETTERLING V. BURGER KING

At the District Court, Defendant-Respondent Snake River urged that Gallagher's situation was more analogous to *Ketterling v. Burger King*, 152 Idaho 555, 272 P.3d 57 (2012).

In *Ketterling*, the court considered whether the Plaintiff, injured at a Burger King restaurant, had been prejudiced by the failure of Defendant to file a certificate of assumed name with the Idaho Secretary of State's office. In *Ketterling*, the Defendant had not filed, there was no assumed name filing of record which would have confused the Plaintiff, and the Plaintiff did not inquire further:

In this case, <u>HB Boys' failure to file an assumed business name may or may not have disadvantaged Ketterling</u>. HB Boys had failed to file with the Idaho Secretary of State as a foreign limited liability company<sup>1</sup> and therefore was not a "formally organized or registered entity" under I.C. § 53–503(2). Thus, it was required under I.C. § 53–504 to

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