UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-26-2016

Gallagher v. Best Western Cottontree Inn Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43695

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

IV. ARGUMENT.

A. Geralyn Gallagher's Amended Complaint naming Snake River does not relate back to the time of the filing of her original Complaint.

Geralyn Gallagher amended her Complaint to name Snake River as the owner and operator of the subject Best Western <u>nine months after</u> the two-year personal injury statute of limitations¹ had expired on July 10, 2014. Consequently, Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 15(c) governs the outcome in this issue. The pertinent provisions of I.C.R.P. 15(c) provide as follows:

An amendment <u>changing the party against whom a claim is asserted</u> relates back if the foregoing provision is satisfied and, <u>within the period provided by law for</u> <u>commencing the action against the party</u>, the party to be brought in by amendment (1) <u>has received such notice of the institution of the action</u> that the party will not be prejudiced in maintaining a defense on the merits, <u>and</u> (2) <u>knew or should have</u> <u>known</u> that, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, the action would have been brought against the party.

I.R.C.P. 15(c). (Emphasis added.)

In Winn v. Campbell, 145 Idaho 727, 729-730 (Idaho 2008), this Court decided an issue

nearly identical to the one presented in this case:

Winn filed her complaint against Wayne Campbell, dba Home Hotel and Motel. However, the location where Winn fell was not the Home Hotel; instead, it was the Tumbling Waters Motel. Both hotels, although owned by separate parties, are operated by Campbell, Inc., not by Wayne Campbell personally. Winn does not dispute that she filed her original complaint against the wrong party. Instead,

¹ This is a claim for personal injuries. The statute of limitations for personal injury is two years. I.C. § 5-219.

she alleges that the District Court interpreted the relation-back rule too narrowly, and that justice demands she be allowed to amend her complaint.

At issue is Idaho R. Civ. P. 15(c), the relation-back rule. This Court has described the rule as follows: [A]n amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted will relate back to the date of the original pleading if: (a) the claim arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading; (b) within the period provided by law for commencing the action against the new party, he received such notice of the institution of the action that he will not be prejudiced in maintaining a defense on the merits; and (c) within the period provided by law for commencing the action against the new party, he knew or should have known that the action would have been brought against him, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party. Wait v. Leavell Cattle, Inc., 136 Idaho 792, 794-95, 41 P.3d 220, 222-23 (2001). Winn contends that the District Court gave a strict and narrow reading to the rule that would require an "absolute finding of 'undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue of the allowance of the amendment' every time the party to be included was not notified of the actual *filing* of the Complaint within the applicable statutory limitation period." Winn's argument, however, is without merit.

The issue in *Wait* was whether the defendant received notice within the period provided by law for commencing the action. In a situation similar to the one at bar, the plaintiff failed to name the correct party in her complaint, naming instead a corporation with a name similar to that of the correct party. The plaintiff argued that the period provided by law for commencing an action included the six-month period within which a summons must be served after a complaint is filed. Id. at 795, 41 P.3d at 223. The Court disagreed. It held, "The phrase 'within the period provided by law for commencing the action' means before the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations." Id. (citing Hoopes v. Deere & Co., 117 Idaho 386, 788 P.2d 201 (1990)). The Court explained that Hoopes "expressly rejected" the argument that "the period provided by law for commencing the action" meant the time within which the summons and complaint must be served. Id. The Court stated plainly that a civil action is commenced by the filing of a complaint—not by service of process. Thus, the Court held that the plaintiff's amended complaint did not avoid the statute of limitations because it could not relate back to the original filing.

Winn offers no reason why the plain language of the rule should not apply in her case. Instead, she argues that Campbell, Inc. was not prejudiced by her failure to name it as a party in a timely manner. The district court held that Rule 15(c) does not mandate that Campbell, Inc. demonstrate prejudice. <u>Instead, it</u> focused on the fact that Winn failed to give notice to the proper party within the statutory limitations period. The court noted that Campbell, Inc. received notice of the institution of the lawsuit on July 10, 2006, nearly six months after the statute of limitations had expired. Further, the court held that failure to provide notice is sufficient to show that the party would be prejudiced in maintaining its defense. Since we review this issue under an abuse of discretion standard, the fact that the district court wrote a reasoned opinion on the issue is sufficient for us to uphold its decision. Furthermore, this is the correct result.

Winn failed to make a proper investigation of whom to sue. Her fall occurred at the Tumbling Waters Motel, not the Home Hotel. Had Winn bothered to determine where she was actually staying or to find out who operated the Tumbling Waters Motel in 2004, she likely could have discovered the proper party to sue. Instead, her attorney acted on information from prior dealings he had with Campbell and the Tumbling Waters Motel and a brief conversation he had with Campbell in the beginning of 2006. However, the record does not show that Campbell, Inc. received notice of the suit before the statute of limitations expired. In Noreen v. Price Dev. Co. Ltd. P'ship, 135 Idaho 816, 25 P.3d 129 (Ct.App.2001), the Court of Appeals held that a complaint could not relate back where service occurred only one day after the statute of limitations had run. Id. at 819, 25 P.3d at 132. Here, Winn failed to provide notice to Campbell personally until nearly six months after the statute of limitations ran. Even if notice to Campbell in his personal capacity was sufficient to satisfy the notice requirements for Campbell, Inc., the fact remains that Campbell, Inc. did not receive notice of the lawsuit within the limitations period. Thus, Winn's amendment could not have related back and the district court properly denied the motion to amend.

Id. (Emphasis added.)

The same result was reached by the District Court in our case and should now be affirmed by this Court. Ms. Gallagher filed her suit against the wrong party. It is apparent that, as in *Winn*, Ms. Gallagher failed to make a reasonable and proper investigation of whom to sue. The correct party, Snake River, the owner and operator of Best Western Cottontree Inn in Idaho Falls, did not receive notice of the claim or suit until April 9, 2015, <u>nine months after</u> the statute of limitations had expired on July 10, 2014, and two years and nine months after the subject accident. Because Snake River did not receive notice of the lawsuit <u>before</u> the statute of limitations expired, under I.R.C.P. 15(c), the result must be that the amendment does not relate back, and the lawsuit is barred by the two-year personal injury statute of limitations.

In Hoopes v. Deere & Co., 117 Idaho 386, 389 (Idaho 1990), this Court stated:

Consequently, Schiavone² and Chacon³ show that, under amended Rule 15(c), the newly named party must receive notice of the commencement of the action before the statute of limitations runs. This applies where the defendant's name is corrected as well as where the defendant's identity is not initially known.

(Emphasis added.)

There is no dispute on the material facts in this case. Snake River did <u>not</u> receive notice of Ms. Gallagher's lawsuit before the two-year statute of limitations expired on July 10, 2014. In fact, Snake River did not receive notice until nine months after the statute of limitations had expired. The Amended Complaint naming Snake River, the owner and operator of the Best Western, as a defendant does not relate back and is barred by the two-year personal injury statute of limitations.

B. Snake River's failure to file a certificate of assumed business name with the Idaho Secretary of State's office does not toll the two-year statute of limitations.

Ms. Gallagher argues that the statute of limitations controversy in this case centers on the legal effect of the prior owner, L & L Limited Legacy, remaining listed as the business owner with the Idaho Secretary of State. (R. p. 65). While, in dicta, the *Winn* Court acknowledged the possibility of tolling a statute of limitations under circumstances the Court had not yet encountered, *Winn* and then *Ketterling v. Burger King Corp.*, 152 Idaho 555, 272 P.3d 527 (2012), decided four years after *Winn*, make it clear that the first step in the analysis is to determine whether a plaintiff used reasonable diligence in ascertaining the correct party to sue.⁴ See *Winn*, 145 Idaho at 731; *Ketterling*, 152 Idaho at 560. The level of due diligence required by a plaintiff to ascertain a business owner, as outlined in *Winn*, is further analyzed in *Ketterling*.

² Schiavone v. Fortune, 477 U.S. 21, 106 S.Ct. 2379, 91 L.Ed.2d 18 (1986).

³ Chacon v. Sperry Corp., 111 Idaho 270, 723 P.2d 814 (1986).

⁴ Although *Winn* acknowledges that there is "some indication that tolling of the statute is possible," the Idaho Court of Appeals found otherwise, stating that "'[t]he only remedies or consequences of noncompliance prescribed in the Act itself are those provided in § 53–509.' *Noreen v. Price Dev. Co. P'ship*, 135 Idaho 816, 821, 25 P.3d 129, 134 (Ct. App. 2001). Further, it held that '[t]olling of the statute of limitation on a claim against a noncomplying business is not a remedy provided by the legislation.'" *Winn*, 145 Idaho at 731 citing *Noreen v. Price Dev. Co. P'ship*, 135 Idaho 816, 820, 25 P.3d 129, 133 (Ct. App. 2001).

In *Ketterling*, a customer brought a negligence action against Burger King for injuries sustained when she slipped on snow in a restaurant parking lot. 152 Idaho at 556. The plaintiff originally filed the lawsuit against Burger King Corporation within the two-year limitations period. *Id.* The plaintiff had searched the Idaho Secretary of State's records for the owner, but because the franchisee never filed a certificate of assumed business name, the entity listed on the website was Burger King Corporation. *Id.* at 559. At that point, the plaintiff discontinued her search for the business owner. *Id.* After the limitations period expired, the plaintiff learned the identity of the franchisee and amended her complaint to include the franchisee. *Id* at 556. This Court affirmed the District Court's finding that the amended complaint did <u>not</u> relate back because the franchisee was <u>not provided with notice of the lawsuit until over a month after the</u> period provided by law for commencing the action <u>had expired</u>. *Id.* at 558. (Emphasis added.)

This Court also affirmed the District Court's refusal to toll the limitations period for the franchisee's failure to register an assumed business name for the restaurant. *Id.* at 560. The plaintiff in *Ketterling* attempted to differentiate her situation from that of *Winn*, stating that she had done her due diligence by checking with the Idaho Secretary of State, but this Court disagreed, stating:

Ketterling is correct that this is not a situation in which she "fail[ed] to take the simple step of finding out where she fell." Ketterling had the right place, but she still <u>failed to exercise</u> reasonable diligence in figuring out who to sue. Ketterling's search of the Secretary of State's records was reasonable, **but she clearly could have done more.** There is no indication in the record that she visited the restaurant prior to the end of the limitations period to find out who was responsible for operation of the establishment. Like the situation in a criminal investigation, where some of the best clues are found at the scene of the crime, often evidence relevant to a personal injury action can be found at the scene of the accident.

Ketterling, 152 Idaho at 560. (Emphasis added.) In addition to visiting the restaurant to determine who was responsible for its operation, this Court suggested another method the plaintiff should have pursued to determine the identity of the business owner, stating:

First, Ketterling could have visited the restaurant before the statute of limitations ran and simply asked an employee who was responsible for operating the restaurant . . . <u>Second, she could have contacted the health district to learn the identity of the restaurant operator</u>. There is no indication in the record that she did so. Therefore, the district court was correct in concluding that the identity and contact information for [franchisee] <u>was reasonably</u> <u>available and ascertainable</u> prior to the filing of the original complaint.

Id. at 560-61. (Emphasis added.)

In this case, the undisputed record established by Ms. Gallagher illustrates that the only effort she undertook to locate the owner of the Best Western Cottontree Inn was a simple search of the Idaho Secretary of State's webpage. (R. pp. 13-18). Ms. Gallagher does not state when that web search occurred and/or explain why no further action was undertaken to determine the owner/operator of the hotel and/or real property on which the hotel is located. As Idaho courts have clearly stated, simply performing a search of the Secretary of State's database to determine a defendant/party is inadequate, there must be a more comprehensive investigation. For example, oftentimes a defendant business will lease property from another entity. In such a situation, a mere search of the Secretary of State business filings would not provide a plaintiff with all necessary potential defendant/parties, such as the landowner.

A reasonable search was not undertaken in this case. Despite living and working in Idaho Falls, the location of the accident, Ms. Gallagher did not even visit the Best Western during the two years following the accident to simply inquire as to who owned the business and/or property. Further, in *Ketterling*, this Court noted that it is "common knowledge among the public" that in

order to operate a restaurant, a license from the health department is required, and that plaintiff could have determined the owner by contacting the health department. *Id.* at 560. Similarly, for our purposes, it is also common knowledge that ownership of all properties within a county's borders are recorded with the county assessor's and/or recorder's office. Yet, Ms. Gallagher makes no representations that she called or visited the Bonneville County Assessor's and/or Recorder's Office to determine the owner of the subject property. As similarly explained in *Ketterling*, the identity and contact information for the owner/operator of the Best Western Cottontree Inn was reasonably available and ascertainable, and Ms. Gallagher's single attempt to discover such information via a web search falls short of the level of due diligence required by Idaho courts.

Ms. Gallagher asserts that this Court's decision in *Ketterling* does not apply to this case because of a several alleged factual distinctions. Ms. Gallagher takes the liberty of attempting to distinguish the cases based on alleged facts that do not exist in *Ketterling*. First, she contends that the significant difference between the *Ketterling* case and this case is that, in *Ketterling*, "the Defendant had not filed [with the Secretary of State], [so] there was no assumed name of record which would have confused the plaintiff, and the plaintiff did not inquire further."⁵ Appellant's Brief, p. 10. Conversely, Ms. Gallagher asserts that she searched the Idaho Secretary of State's website and found information indicating that L & L Legacy Limited Partnership owned and operated the Best Western hotel. However, in *Ketterling*, this Court's decision states, "Ketterling was unable to ascertain the name of any entity, <u>besides Burger King Corporation</u>, registered with the Secretary of State to conduct business under the name 'Burger King.'" 152 Idaho at 559. This does not mean that there was no filing whatsoever, as Ms. Gallagher asserts. Rather, the plaintiff

⁵ Plaintiff's brief goes on to state that Ketterling "should not have merely assumed that a <u>lack of any filing</u> with the Secretary of State meant the restaurant was owned by the larger corporation and not a franchisee." Plaintiff's Brief, p. 11 (emphasis added).

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